University of Tennessee at Chattanooga UTC Scholar

Honors Theses

Student Research, Creative Works, and Publications

5-2023

Viability of equine assisted activities and therapies for individuals with developmental disorders: a systematic review

Faith Pinson University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, faithpinson23@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.utc.edu/honors-theses

Part of the Occupational Therapy Commons

Recommended Citation

Pinson, Faith, "Viability of equine assisted activities and therapies for individuals with developmental disorders: a systematic review" (2023). *Honors Theses.*

This Theses is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research, Creative Works, and Publications at UTC Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of UTC Scholar. For more information, please contact scholar@utc.edu.

Viability of Equine Assisted Activities and Therapies for Individuals with Developmental Disorders: A Systematic Review

Faith Pinson

Departmental Honors Thesis

The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga

Health and Human Performance

Examination Date: 04/12/2023

Dr. Karissa Peyer

Dr. Susan McDonald

UC Foundation Associate Professor

Department Examiner

OT Department Head & Associate Professor

Thesis Director

Table of Contents

Abstract1
Introduction2
Methods
Eligibility Criteria6
Exclusion Criteria6
Outcomes7
Outcomes Measured7
Results
Communication13
Social Motivation14
Socialization
Social Functioning16
Discussion
Communication18
Social Motivation
Socialization
Social Functioning
Strengths24
Limitations
Conclusion
References

Viability of Equine Assisted Activities and Therapies for Individuals with Developmental Disorders: A Systematic Review

Faith Pinson

Abstract

The objective of this review is to determine whether Equine-Assisted Activities and Therapies (EAAT) are a viable form of therapy for people with various developmental disorders. A viable form of therapy is one that is more beneficial than traditional forms of therapy that already exist, as traditional therapies may be generally less expensive and have plentiful research to support their use). In order to be beneficial, EAAT would need to yield improved results when either compared side by side with traditional therapy or used as a complementary therapy with traditional therapy. In this systematic review, the included studies examined the effect of an EAAT intervention for individuals with a developmental disorder such as autism spectrum disorder (ASD) or Downs Syndrome (DS). Studies that focused on participants with cerebral palsy were excluded as well as studies that were not written in English. Results were compared between studies, with a focus on social outcomes in four categories: communication, social motivation, socialization, and social functioning. There were 18 studies included in the final research. It was found that EAAT is generally beneficial for people with developmental disorders. A limiting factor of this review was the inconsistent methodology between studies. This included the sample sizes, outcomes measured, and the methods of measurement. More research needs to be completed regarding the long-term effects of EAAT; however, even as an on-going treatment, EAAT may be viable.

Introduction

Developmental disorders are described as a group of conditions characterized by atypical maturation and significant impairment of cognitive functions which are associated with limitations in learning, adaptive behavior, and skills (Karmiloff-Smith, 1998; Salvador-Carulla et al., 2011). Therapy is one of the most effective treatments for people with this type of disorder (Peters et al., 2020). This therapy comes in many different forms: cognitive behavioral therapy, applied behavior analysis therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy, and occupational therapy. Still, there are subsets within those various forms of therapy. Equine-Assisted Activities and Therapies (EAAT) are methods of treatment involving horse-back riding that may combine occupational therapy, physical therapy, and speech therapy. It is often used for individuals with developmental disabilities (Lanning et al., 2014).

Occupational therapy is meant to help patients accomplish their everyday occupations, such as activities of daily living (ADLs). For adults, this often means work-related activities or chores around the home, but children's occupations look different. Pediatric occupational therapy may focus on a child's ability to play or complete activities at school (Peters et al., 2020). Pediatric physical therapy is similar, but it focuses on children's gross motor skills whereas occupational therapy focuses on their occupations, which may include fine motor skills such as handwriting and teeth brushing. The goal of both therapies is to help patients get back to their desired activities; the focus is truly whatever activities and life skills are important to the clients. The therapist meets patients where they are, so they may start at a level in which sitting exercises are necessary, progressing to standing exercises if possible, or they may be working on active exercises (Kalmbach et al., 2020, American Physical Therapy Association).

While EAAT is a form of treatment involving horses that has been used since the 1960s, it originated much earlier. The basic idea behind EAAT dates back to early European history

where horseback riding was used to treat physical and psychological ailments. The same group who researched the early history of EAAT concluded that current research points to the possibility that EAAT could be beneficial for individuals with developmental disorders such as autism spectrum disorder (ASD) (Lanning et al., 2014). When EAAT is introduced, the patient is able to move and exercise in an entirely new way; the rhythmic movement of the horse improves the rider's balance, muscle symmetry, coordination, and posture (Borgi et al., 2016). The movement and gait of the horse is meant to improve motor coordination as well as core strength. Some studies have also seen improvements in neurological, sensory, and social changes which can improve many of the symptoms of ASD and other developmental disorders (Peters et al., 2020).

EAAT can be split into two groups: Equine Assisted Activities (EAA) and Equine Assisted Therapies (EAT). EAA includes Therapeutic Riding (TR) and Equine-Assisted Learning (EAL) while EAT includes Equine-Facilitated Psychotherapy (EFPT) and Hippotherapy (HT) (Anderson & Meints, 2016). Praying Hands Ranch, an EAAT organization, includes a page with EAAT definitions on its website. They define EAT as services provided by a licensed health professional that incorporate horses into the therapy process. EAA are defined by the same organization as services provided by a non-licensed professional (i.e., a PATH certified instructor) that utilize the inherent therapeutic benefits of being around horses to enhance non-clinical activities. EAA Facilitators are not regulated by a state board and are not required to have a degree in their field. Finally, hippotherapy is a more specific term falling under the category of EAT that is defined by the use of horseback riding/equine movement in physical, occupational, or speech therapy. It is provided by a licensed physical, occupational, or speech therapist. (Administrator, 2023).

EAAT works by giving the participant activities (both on and off the horse) that are aimed at improving self-efficacy, social skills, balance, and other skills. Due to the unique type of social interaction that animals offer, it has been proposed that EAAT affects social skills in participants because relationships with animals can dampen the effects of social isolation (Borgi et al., 2016). This could point towards one reason for the improvements in social skills for kids with ASD who participate in EAAT. The activities involved in EAAT fall into two main categories: groundwork and riding skills. Groundwork activities include caring for the horse, picking its hooves, brushing it, petting it, mounting the horse, and communicating/conversing with the instructor. Riding skills include balancing in the saddle, sitting up straight, steering the horse, and completing horse-based exercises chosen by the therapist. These exercises may be balance-focused or strength-focused. All exercises work on intellectual and social skills because the participants must process what their instructor says and complete the action. They also must communicate with their instructor while on the horse so that they know what to do at every moment. Since many participants might not be familiar with horses, they are working as a team with their instructor to obtain or improve a skill and to ride a horse. EAAT is often a tool used alongside traditional therapies such as occupational or physical therapy. Both traditional therapy and EAAT may be implemented at one clinic or EAAT may be completed at a different location given the resources required for horse therapy: horses, a barn to board them, and an arena to work on riding skills (Peters et al., 2020; Trzmiel et al., 2019).

Previous systematic reviews have been written on this topic (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017; Potvin-Bélanger et al., 2022; Srinivasan et al., 2018; Trzmiel et al., 2019). Some of these reviews focused on people with ASD while others looked at all developmental disorders. Three of the reviews focused on treating individuals with ASD (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017;

Srinivasan et al., 2018; Trzmiel et al., 2019). Two reviews included participants of a broad age range (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017; Srinivasan et al., 2018) while the other two focused on children and adolescents (Potvin-Bélanger et al., 2022; Trzmiel et al., 2019). One of these reviews focuses only on hippotherapy (Potvin-Bélanger et al., 2022) while the others reviewed various types of EAAT. The common limitations of these reviews included a small sample size and heterogenous research methodology (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017; Potvin-Bélanger et al., 2022; Srinivasan et al., 2018; Trzmiel et al., 2019).

EAAT has also become an established form of treatment for posture, balance, and coordination for those with cerebral palsy (Borgi et al., 2016). There are a plethora of studies, meta-analyses, and systematic reviews focused on people with cerebral palsy, but this systematic review will exclude that population in order to focus on different populations that may benefit from a new form of therapy (Bass et al., 2009; Borgi et al., 2016; Jackson-Maldonado, 2021; Potvin-Bélanger et al., 2022; Trzmiel et al., 2019).

The current review will specifically focus on EAAT for people with ASD and other developmental disorders as compared to traditional therapy for this population. This review will focus on the social outcomes that occur in response to an EAAT program. This review is necessary because hippotherapy and other EAAT could potentially be a helpful tool for many people who otherwise would not get such a well-rounded treatment. It is also important to know if this therapy is not efficient so as to not waste time and resources for a program that is not especially beneficial.

Methods

Eligibility Criteria

This study is a systematic review on the current research within the field of EAAT, guided by the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) statement (Page et al., 2021). In order to be included in the review, each study had to a) have a subject population which included people with developmental disorders such as ASD, Downs syndrome, or intellectual disabilities, b) have a form of EAAT as its intervention and focus, and c) have a focus on social and communication outcomes. Ideally, each study would include a comparison group of individuals in traditional therapy or individuals who were not in therapy. While a control group would strengthen the interpretation/design, it was not required. Each study needed to be published in a peer-reviewed journal. The first step of data collection consisted of searching four reputable databases (PubMed, Cinahl, WebofScience, and OTDBase). The search terms for this review were as follows: "Hippotherapy OR horse therapy OR equine therapy OR equine therapy OR intellectual disability OR down syndrome NOT cerebral palsy."

Exclusion Criteria

After recording the initial search results, this review implemented a three-step exclusion process. First, certain studies were excluded after reading through the titles and determining that they were not relevant (i.e., did not meet the criteria). The second set of elimination occurred after reading the abstract of each article. The third step included reading the full article and determining if each study fit the eligibility criteria.

This review excluded any studies on EAAT for people with cerebral palsy. Studies were excluded if they were written before 2005. Only reports in English were included. Twenty-three

studies were excluded due to the type of outcomes they focused on. In five of these studies, the outcome was not clarified.

Outcomes

After starting the research process, social skills outcomes were a common theme that arose in many of the studies. This aspect of EAAT became the primary outcome focus, since the review is gathering information on people with ASD and other types of developmental disorders, who may not have severe physical deficits. The outcomes within the broad category of social skills include communication, social motivation, socialization, and social functioning. For each article, these factors were also recorded: Author, Date Published, Database, Study Design, Comparison/Control Group, Subject Population, Outcomes Measured, and Conclusion. This information was recorded for each study in order to compare the articles and consolidate the information in order to form one conclusion. One reviewer assessed the information in these studies with two readers checking the outcomes to minimize risk of bias. Databases were used to find relevant studies, but no other automation tools were used.

Outcomes Measured

Various outcomes measured within the articles were considered in this review. Each outcome fell under the broad category of social skills; however, many subcategories were derived from the included studies. These subcategories included: communication, social motivation, socialization, and social functioning.

Communication: Communication is the ability to express one's needs and ideas. It is also the ability to engage in conversation with others. It includes expressive language (speaking) and receptive language (listening and understanding) (CafeMedia, 1998).

Social Motivation: Social Motivation is a person's internal desire and willingness to interact with those around them. When social motivation increases, a person begins to socialize without the need for outside incentive (Westminster public schools, 2008, p. 42).

Socialization: Socialization is defined as the acquisition of a complex set of skills required to interact effectively with others (Westminster public schools, 2008, p.42). This review will include social interaction, including interaction with peers, within the category of socialization (Westminster public schools, 2008, p. 42).

Social Functioning: Social functioning includes the ability to empathize as well as a lack of maladaptive or repetitive behaviors. This category represents internal and individual abilities that allow a person to relate to others "normally" (Administrator, 2023).



The diagram (1) above illustrates the screening process for the database searches.

Author	Date Published	Database	Study Design	Comparison Group Included?	Subject Population	Outcomes Measured	Communication	Social Motivation	Socialization	Social Functioning
Anderson, S. & Meints K.	2016	CINAHL	Single Case Experimental Design	No - Baseline measure of participants prior to intervention	5-16 year old individuals with ASD	Social functioning for ASD	↑(NS)	NM	=	¢
Bass M.M. et. al	2009	CINAHL	Randomized Control Trial	Yes - Children on waitlist	4-10 year old children with ASD	Sensory issues, social motivation, and distractibility for ASD	NM	ţ	NM	NM
Borgi, M. et. al	2016	CINAHL	Randomized Control Trial	Yes - Children on waitlist	6-12 year old children with ASD	Social and executive functioning for ASD	=	NM	ţ	NM
Dawson, S. et. al	2022	CINAHL	Single Case Experimental Design	No - Baseline measure of participants prior to intervention	12-32 year old individuals with ASD	Social functioning for ASD	NM	NM	NM	¢

Gabriels R.L. et. al	2015	PubMed	Randomized Control Trial	Yes - Children completed art activity	6-16 year old individuals with ASD	Social cognition, social motivation, and communication for ASD	Ť	↑(NS)	NM	NM
Jackson- Maldonado, D. et al	2021	CINAHL	Randomized Control Trial	Yes - Traditional language therapy	4-7 year old children with Down Syndrome	Communicative abilities for DS	Î	NM	NM	NM
Kalmbach, D. et. al	2020	CINAHL	Qualitative Descriptive Study	None required - Any previous therapies	Parents of 7 children with ASD	Occupational and social performance for ASD	NM	NM	↑(NM)	NM
Lanning B.A. et. al	2014	PubMed	Randomized Control Trial	Yes - Educational and recreational activities	4-14 year old individuals with ASD	Physical, emotional, and social functioning for ASD	NM	NM	NM	Ť
McKissock, H. et. al	2022	CINAHL	Scaffolded instruction design model	No control	15-32 year old individuals with ASD	Social skills for ASD	NM	NM	NM	↑(NM)
Peters, B. et. al	2022	CINAHL	Randomized Control Trial	Traditional therapy - Occupational therapy in a garden	6-13 year old children with ASD	Goal attainment and social motivation for ASD	↑(NS)	Ţ	NM	NM
Peters, B. et. al	2020	CINAHL	Single Case Experimental Design	No - Baseline measure of participants prior to intervention	6-18 year old individuals with confirmed ASD	Occupational and social performance for ASD	Ť	Ť	NM	↑(NS)

Tan V. & Simmonds J.	2018	CINAHL	Qualitative Descriptive Study	None required - Any previous therapies	2-18 year old individuals with ASD	Social and emotional benefits ASD	NM	↑(NM)	↑(NM)	NM
Ward, S. et. al	2013	CINAHL	Single Case Experimental Design	No - Baseline measure of participants prior to intervention	Children from Kindergarten to fifth grade with ASD	Social interaction and sensory processing for ASD	↑(NS)	NM	î	NM
Zhao M. et. al	2021	PubMed	Randomized Control Trial	Yes - Routine ASD program	6-12 year old children with ASD	Social interaction and communication for ASD	Ť	NM	ſ	NM

Table (1): \uparrow indicates improvement; \uparrow (NM) indicates improvement where the significance was not measured; \uparrow (NS) indicates non-significant improvement; NM indicates Not Measured; = indicates No Change or No Difference between groups

Results

Communication

A total of eight studies looked at the communication outcomes of EAAT. Of these studies, four saw significant improvements in communication levels for those who participated in EAAT intervention. One randomized control trial (RCT) showed variable effects when looking at expressive versus receptive language (Jackson-Maldonado, 2021). Significant improvements in language comprehension were found after both traditional therapy and EAT; however, greater improvements in comprehension were recorded after traditional therapy than after EAT. On the other hand, there were greater improvements in language production after hippotherapy as compared to traditional therapy on its own. One single case experimental design study showed significant improvements in social communication compared to pre-intervention levels (Peters et al., 2020). The median social communication score improved from 40.0 on the pretest (lower scores indicate better functioning) to 38.0 post-intervention. Two RCTs showed significant improvements in communication outcomes in children with ASD when compared with a control group (Gabriels et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2021). Each of their results were measured after 10 or more weeks of an EAAT intervention.

Two single case experimental design studies (Anderson & Meints, 2016; Ward et al., 2013) and one RCT (Peters et al., 2022) showed no significant improvements on communication in participants after the intervention. Each of these studies showed improvements in communication, but they were not found to be significant. One RCT showed no time-dependent improvement in communication (Borgi et al., 2016).

Social Motivation

Five studies were found that examined the effects of EAAT on social motivation. (Bass M.M. et al., 2009; Jackson Maldonado D. et al., 2021; Peters B. et al, 2020; Peters B. et al., 2022; Tan & Simmonds, 2018). Three of these studies found significant improvements in social motivation after intervention; these included two RCTs (Bass et al., 2009; Peters et al., 2022), and a single case experimental design study (Peters et al., 2020). One qualitative study found improvement but did not test the significance (Tan & Simmonds, 2018) One single case experimental study saw positive effects but not significant improvement (Gabriels et al., 2015).

Tan and Simmonds (2018) examined parent's perspectives of interventions in an equine environment. One of the main outcomes is social benefits for the child, but also included are the child's improved self-concept and emotional wellbeing, child's improved self-regulatory ability, and unexpected outcomes. Within the category of social benefits, parents reported relationship forming skills (both with the horse and the instructor), learning of social skills, and improved social motivation. Parents in this study describe witnessing a friendship-like relationship form between their children and the horses. One child even started interacting more with her peers and having playdates with them after attending group based EAA programs (Tan & Simmonds, 2018).

In one RCT, there were significant improvement in social motivation (Bass et al., 2009). This study used the Social Responsiveness Scale, Second Edition (SRS-2), which is a social skills assessment that denotes improvements as lower scores. The experimental group showed significant improvements when compared to their own pre-intervention scores and when compared to a wait-list control group.

One single-case pilot study determined that social motivation improved significantly compared to the pre-intervention levels (Peters et al., 2020). The median score for social

motivation increased from 14.0 on the pretest to a score of 12.0 post-intervention. A different preliminary RCT study had positive results for the social effects of occupational therapy using horseplay for children who participated in the program (Peters et al., 2022). Both studies showed significant improvements in social motivation (Peters et al., 2020; Peters et al., 2022). They both used the SRS-2 to measure their results. The control group of children in the 2022 study who received occupational therapy in a garden showed greater improvement in social motivation than those receiving occupational therapy utilizing horseplay.

One study found non-significant improvements in social motivation for children with ASD who completed EAA intervention (Gabriels et al., 2015). This study, like many within this review, used the SRS-2 to measure changes in their participants' outcomes. These social outcome scores were determined by participant's caregivers. These caregivers produced nonblinded reports via surveys.

Socialization

Six studies in this review measured socialization outcomes (Anderson & Meints, 2016; Borgi et al., 2016; Kalmbach et al., 2020; Tan & Simmonds et al., 2018; Ward et al. 2013; Zhao et al., 2021). Five studies showed notable improvements in socialization after EAAT intervention (Borgi et al., 2016; Kalmbach et al., 2020; Tan & Simmonds, 2018; Ward et al. 2013; Zhao et al., 2021). Two of these were qualitative descriptive studies that found more frequent social interactions to be a favorable influence of equine intervention according to the parents of participants (Kalmbach et al., 2020; Tan & Simmonds, 2018). The parents in Kalmbach and colleagues' study included socialization as an improved outcome of the intervention. Tan and Simmonds included outcomes such as social engagement and social interaction when describing the effects of the intervention. A single case experimental study showed significant improvements in social interaction after a six week intervention, followed by a six week break, followed by a four week intervention, followed by a six week break, and finally an eight week intervention (Ward et al., 2013). These social interaction numbers returned to pre-intervention levels after seven weeks without TR or contact with the barn; however, after seven more weeks in TR, levels had significantly improved again. Two RCT studies showed significant improvements to participant's social interaction when compared to a control group (Borgi et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2021). The results of Zhao and colleagues' study were based on scores from both the Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales (SSIS), which is a social skills assessment method in which parents evaluate their child's social interactions with five subscales (communication, cooperation, assertion, responsibility, empathy, engagement, and self-control) and the Assessment of Basic Language and Learning Skills-Revised (ABLLS-R). Increased scores represent improvements for both of these measurements. Borgi and colleagues found significant improvements in socialization based on the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale (VABS). They found no improvement in socialization for the waitlist control group.

One study showed no improvements in socialization after EAA intervention. This study used the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale (VABS) to measure social behavior in its participants pre-EAT and post-EAT. The intervention lasted five weeks and included 15 participants (Anderson & Meints, 2016).

Social Functioning

Two single case experimental studies had promising results for social functioning of people with ASD (Anderson & Meints, 2016; Dawson et al., 2022). One of these studies showed that after treatment with horses, the participants scored an average of 22 points lower for negative social behavior than they did before completing the treatment (Dawson et al., 2022).

The average score on week one was 85.8 while the average score on week 15 was 63.8. The other study specifically measured increased empathizing and decreased maladaptive behaviors in its participants (Anderson & Meints, 2016). It found significant improvements in both empathy and maladaptive behaviors for participants.

Two RCT studies showed significant improvements in social functioning for children with ASD who participated in EAAT (Borgi et al., 2016; Lanning et al., 2014). One of these articles presented a hypothesis which stated that relationships with animals can dampen the effects of social isolation due to the unique type of social interaction that animals offer (Borgi et al., 2016). Borgi and colleagues found significant improvements in social functioning in their study. The other RCT also resulted in significant improvements in social functioning for its control group, which involved social circles (Lanning et al., 2014). Each social circle consisted of a group of two to three children who participated in educational and recreational activities guided by a psychology student trainee. The control group had greater improvements in social functioning than the treatment group, although both were significantly improved from baseline.

One preliminary study showed improvement in restricted and repetitive behaviors but not to a significant degree (Peters et al., 2020). This study included five participants who made it through the entire intervention. The researchers, Peters and colleagues, used a variety of methods to measure their results, including the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule, which assesses social skills and behaviors of individuals that may have ASD. Another measurement tool was the Adaptive Behavior Assessment System, Third Addition- a rating scale that measures 10 domains of adaptive behaviors completed by parents of the participants.

Discussion

Communication

The majority of studies (seven out of eight) produced some level of positive results in communication following various forms of EAAT. The scores from the Communicative Development Inventory-Down in regard to one RCT suggest hopeful outcomes for expressive and potentially receptive communication in response to hippotherapy (Gabriels et al., 2015). Although traditional therapy yielded greater improvements for receptive communication in Gabriel and colleagues' study, the length of therapy must be considered; the traditional language therapy was implemented three times as long as hippotherapy. Both therapies yielded significant improvements, so more research is needed to determine if these types of therapy are comparable when both are provided for the same length of time. Hippotherapy clearly yielded greater improvements in expressive language even with the timing difference (Gabriels et al., 2015).

Two single case experimental design studies which showed non-significant improvements in communication had limitations that could have caused these conflicting results (Anderson & Meints; Ward et al., 2013). The sample size of both was quite small and the intervention was short compared to other studies in this review. One study included only 15 participants, had no control group, and included only five weeks of intervention (Anderson & Meints, 2016). The other study included 34 EAAT participants and lasted only 6 consecutive weeks due to issues with inclement weather (Ward et al., 2013). Most of the other EAAT interventions in this review lasted 10 or more weeks. All of these factors make the two studies by Anderson, Ward, and colleagues less weighty and point to the possibility that clients may have needed more time participating in the intervention in order to reap the full benefits. The RCT that showed no time-dependent improvements in communication depended on parent interviews for its results and did not include in-clinic observation measures (Borgi et al., 2016). This lowers the reliability of the results, especially considering the other studies included in this review and in Borgi and colleagues' own study which report increases in social communication. Parent interviews are a helpful tool to get the full picture of a child's results from EAAT, but they are most reliable when used alongside in-clinic measurements. Borgi and colleagues emphasize the importance of direct measurements of each participant apart from parent perspectives.

All four previous systematic reviews regarding EAAT and individuals with developmental disorders focused on communication as a potential outcome of improvement for EAAT (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017; Potvin-Bélanger et al., 2022; Srinivasan et al., 2018; Trzmiel et al., 2019). Most agreed that the communication results are hopeful, but some called for more research (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017; Srinivasan et al., 2018). McDaniel and colleagues specifically suggested that researchers continue to systematically review the data as more becomes available. Three of the communication-focused studies in the current review were randomized control trials and one used a single case experimental design including a control group (Gabriels et al., 2015; Jackson-Maldonado, 2021; Zhao et al., 2021). These studies addressed many of the concerns from previous reviews regarding sample size and lack of a control group. Two of these RCTs were published in 2021 (Jackson-Maldonado, 2021; Zhao et al., 2021), which was after all previous systematic reviews on EAAT were written (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017; Srinivasan et al., 2018; Trzmiel et al., 2019).

Social Motivation

Four studies found that social motivation was significantly improved after EAAT intervention. One of these studies suggested that TR may have been a reinforcing stimulus which resulted in increased motivation levels and participation; this could make it a useful tool for those with developmental disorders who generally score lower for social motivation. The distinct, motivating nature of EAAT makes it stand out from traditional therapies (Bass et al., 2009).

One single-case study showed significant improvement in social motivation when compared to pre-intervention scores (Peters et al., 2020). Similarly, an RCT study showed significant improvements in social motivation in both the control group and intervention group (Peters et al., 2022); however, the control group's improvements were slightly higher. This could be because the control intervention, occupational therapy in a garden environment, was implemented with multiple participants who had similar communication abilities. These participants completed occupational therapy in a potentially motivating environment, a garden, side by side with their peers. This control environment may have been especially socially motivating, which would explain why both groups showed significantly improved social motivation (Peters et al., 2022).

The outcomes in one qualitative study suggest an increase in social motivation in the participating children: a desire to understand how the horse feels, a desire to play with other children in this environment, and a willingness to learn and follow boundaries for the horse (Tan & Simmonds, 2018). These factors suggest that social motivation can lead to a variety of social effects in participants that previously demonstrated deficits in social skills.

One RCT's results showed improvements in social motivation that were not found to be significant. This study contained a couple of limitations that may have affected the results. One

notable limitation was the caregiver self-assessment form used to measure results; this form was completed unblinded caregivers. Another limitation was the lack of objective observational measures. Both of these may have yielded unreliable results. This study would need to be repeated with more reliable and objective methodology to better determine if social motivation outcomes were reliable (Gabriels et al., 2015).

Socialization

The majority of studies that measured socialization outcomes found significant or notable improvements. One of these studies raised questions as to how long the outcomes of TR last (Ward et al., 2013). Ward and colleagues' single case experimental design study's results, which showed significant improvements in socialization but a return to pre-intervention levels after stopping treatment, could have multiple explanations. For example, the small sample size and data generated from only one source, teacher ratings, lower the reliability of this study. Another explanation is the inconsistency of the TR lessons. Ward and colleagues intended for the intervention to last ten consecutive weeks and eight consecutive weeks with a six week break in between. Most other studies within this review utilized interventions that lasted 10 or more consecutive weeks. However, due to weather and scheduling conflicts, each of their interventions lasted four to eight consecutive weeks with six week breaks in between. A longer study would be necessary to see if results of TR last after the intervention ends when the intervention is more long-term. If TR results proved not to be long-lasting on their own, the therapy may still be viable as a complement to traditional therapy (in order to maximize benefits) rather than a standalone therapy (Ward et al., 2013).

A single case experimental study found no improvements in socialization after its intervention. This could be a result of the small sample size (n = 15). It could also be due to the

short length of the program. The intervention lasted only five weeks, and it showed minimal changes to socialization and communication, while most studies of ten weeks or more showed significant improvements in these outcomes (Anderson & Meints, 2016).

One previous systematic review declared interpersonal interactions as the second most common outcome of each of the studies within their review, with the most common outcome being behavior. Specifically, interpersonal interactions accounted for 10 out of the 25 studies (40%) within the review (McDaniel Peters & Wood, 2017). The findings in McDaniel and colleagues' review regarding socialization (including improved relationships and increased social interactions) are in accord with the positive socialization outcomes found within the current study. Trzmiel et al., (2019) likewise found that socialization was one of the notably improved outcomes.

Social Functioning

Four out of five studies that measured social functioning showed significant improvements after EAAT intervention (Anderson & Meints, 2016; Borgi et al., 2016; Dawson et al., 2022; Lanning et al., 2014). The fifth study showed improvement that was not considered significant (Peters et al., 2020).

One study showed a significant improvement in social functioning for both the treatment group and the comparison group (Lanning et al., 2014). However, the comparison group had a greater change in social functioning than the EAA treatment group. This could be an effect of the potential bias of parents/teachers who scored the outcomes of these children. It could also be due to the especially social nature of the control group, which consisted of a social circle attended by peers and led by a psychology graduate student. More research should be conducted comparing

EAA participants and a control group of participants in group therapy in order to determine the most effective method or combination of therapies.

The hypothesis presented in one RCT regards the positive effects of interacting with animals for the socially isolated (Borgi et al., 2016). This may provide the explanation of improvements in social skills present in individuals with ASD who participate in EAT. Borgi and colleagues' findings supported their hypothesis; they found significant improvements within the outcome of social functioning after intervention with a horse, suggesting that the horse may have had positive effects on participants in the EAT intervention. The study that showed nonsignificant improvements in restrictive and repetitive behaviors had a focus on the preliminary efficacy of EAAT, so some of its design characteristics were limiting (Peters et al., 2020). These limitations included a small sample size and differences in nonverbal IQ scores between the control group and experimental group. Because of these limitations, other research should be considered when determining whether improvements in restricted behavior are generally significant.

One systematic review included both communication and socialization outcomes in the category of social functioning (Trzmiel et al., 2019), while the current systematic review looks at each of these categories separately; this is because the current review focuses on social outcomes while the previous review studies a broad range of outcomes for children with ASD. Trzmiel and colleagues report a high effectiveness of EAAT on the improvement of social functioning. Due to the differences of definitions in their review and the current review, these results in social functioning will be taken under consideration but not given the same weight as the individual outcomes of communication and socialization.

Strengths

This review includes seven studies written after 2019 which add to the research pool for EAAT and help provide more up to date and conclusive results. Two more randomized control trials (RCTs) were reviewed which were written after three of the previous systematic reviews. These RCTs therefore, the small sample size described by previous systematic reviews was addressed in some of the newer studies included in the current review. One RCT was not included in any other reviews. The current review includes individuals of all ages with a variety of developmental disorders. The broader focus will include more studies and will be more inclusive as to who might benefit from EAAT. The broad range of EAAT interventions set this review apart from previous systematic reviews.

Limitations

Although the broadness of EAAT is a strength, the heterogeneity of the studies was also one of the major limitations of this review. Before determining which types of EAAT meet the specific needs of individuals, there is a need for more studies with common methodology and stricter parameters in order to more fully and reliably understand the effects of EAAT therapy on individuals with developmental disorders. Some heterogeneous parameters from present studies include sample size, length of intervention, presence of a control group, and outcomes measured. The most notable limitations for this review were the various lengths of interventions and outcomes measured within the studies. In future studies, it would be helpful to standardize the outcomes measured under specific topics; these broad topics might include social, cognitive, and physical outcomes. More long-term intervention and measurements are also necessary to determine the lasting effects of EAAT. This need for long-term studies was mentioned in other systematic reviews as well (Srinivasan et al., 2018; Trzmiel et al., 2019).

Conclusion

EAAT had an overall positive effect in the majority of studies included in this review. These results suggest that various forms of EAAT are beneficial for the social skills (including communication, social motivation, socialization, and social functioning) of people with developmental disorders. Communication and socialization outcomes stood out above the others. These two outcomes were measured by more articles and supported by more RCT studies than the other outcomes. The findings in the current review promote the usage of EAAT either independently or as a complement to traditional therapy for individuals with developmental disorders. Some of the studies included in this review had conflicting findings regarding how long the effects of EAAT lasted (Bass et al., 2009; Ward et al., 2013). More research is needed to determine how long-lasting the effects of EAAT are. Due to the slight variation in outcomes between studies, EAAT does not yet stand as a viable stand-alone therapy. More research is needed to determine whether it would be an effective therapy when used independently, but many studies suggest that it would be. Given the large quantity of positive results within the 18 studies in this review, EAAT would be a beneficial complementary tool alongside traditional therapy.

References

- Praying Hands Ranch. (2023). EAAT terminology. Praying Hands Ranch. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from https://prayinghandsranch.org/index.php/programs/eaat-terminology.
- Anderson, S., & Meints, K. (2016). Brief Report: The Effects of Equine-Assisted Activities on the Social Functioning in Children and Adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 46*(10), 3344–3352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2869-3</u>
- Bass, M. M., Duchowny, C. A., & Llabre, M. M. (2009). The effect of therapeutic horseback riding on social functioning in children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(9), 1261–1267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0734-3</u>
- American Physical Therapist Association. Becoming a physical therapist. APTA. (2023). Retrieved March 18, 2023, from <u>https://www.apta.org/your-career/careers-in-physical-therapy/becoming-a-pt</u>.
- Borgi, M., Loliva, D., Cerino, S., Chiarotti, F., Venerosi, A., Bramini, M., Nonnis, E., Marcelli, M.,
 Vinti, C., De Santis, C., Bisacco, F., Fagerlie, M., Frascarelli, M., & Cirulli, F. (2016).
 Effectiveness of a Standardized Equine-Assisted Therapy Program for Children with Autism
 Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 46*(1), 1–9.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2530-6

CafeMedia. (1998). Socialization. Socialization definition | Psychology Glossary | AlleyDog.com. Retrieved March 13, 2023, from

https://www.alleydog.com/glossary/definition.php?term=Socialization.

- Dawson, S., McCormick, B., Tamas, D., Stanojevic, C., Eldridge, L., McIntire, J., Bowen, A., & McKissock, H. B. (2022). Equine-Assisted Therapy with Autism Spectrum Disorder in Serbia and the United States: A Pilot Intervention. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, 56(1). https://doi.org/10.18666/trj-2022-v56-i1-10387
- Gabriels, R. L., Pan, Z., Dechant, B., Agnew, J. A., Brim, N., & Mesibov, G. (2015). Randomized Controlled Trial of Therapeutic Horseback Riding in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(7), 541–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2015.04.007
- Jackson-Maldonado, D. (2021). Hippotherapy and the Communicative Abilities of Children With Down Syndrome: A Preliminary Study. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 42(2), 81–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740119870769</u>
- Kalmbach, D., Wood, W., & Peters, B. C. (2020). Parental Perspectives of Occupational Therapy in an Equine Environment for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Occupational Therapy in Health Care, 34*(3), 230–252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07380577.2020.1751903</u>
- Karmiloff-Smith, A. (1998). Development itself is the key to understanding developmental disorders. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 2*(10).
- Lanning, B. A., Baier, M. E. M., Ivey-Hatz, J., Krenek, N., & Tubbs, J. D. (2014). Effects of equine assisted activities on autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders,* 44(8), 1897–1907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2062-5</u>
 McDaniel Peters, B. C., & Wood, W. (2017). Autism and Equine-Assisted Interventions: A Systematic Mapping Review. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders,* 47(10), 3220–

- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., McGuinness, L., Stewart, L., Thomas, J., Tricco, A., Welch, V., Whiting, P., Moher, D. (2021, March 29). The Prisma 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *The BMJ*. Retrieved March 20, 2023, from https://www.bmj.com/content/372/bmj.n71.
- Peters, B. C., Wood, W., Hepburn, S., & Bundy, A. (2020). Pilot Study: Occupational Therapy in an Equine Environment for Youth With Autism. *OTJR Occupation, Participation and Health*, 40(3), 190–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1539449220912723</u>
- Peters, B. C., Wood, W., Hepburn, S., & Moody, E. J. (2022). Preliminary Efficacy of Occupational Therapy in an Equine Environment for Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 52(9), 4114–4128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-05278-0</u>
- Potvin-Bélanger, A., Vincent, C., Freeman, A., & Flamand, V. H. (2022). Impact of hippotherapy on the life habits of children with disabilities: a systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(26), 8161–8175. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.2012847
- Prisma. PRISMA. (2015). Retrieved March 20, 2023, from http://www.prisma-statement.org/.
- Salvador-Carulla, L., Reed, G. M., Vaez-Azizi, L. M., Cooper, S.-A., Martinez-Leal, R., Bertelli, M., Adnams, C., Cooray, S., Deb, S., Akoury-Dirani, L., Girimaji, S. C., Katz, G., Kwok, H., Luckasson, R., Simeonsson, R., Walsh, C., Munir, K., & Saxena, S. (2011). Intellectual developmental disorders: towards a new name, definition and framework for "mental retardation/intellectual disability" in ICD-11. *World Psychiatry*, *10*(3), 175–180.

- Srinivasan, S. M., Cavagnino, D. T., & Bhat, A. N. (2018). Effects of Equine Therapy on Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 5(2), 156–175. Springer New York LLC. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-018-0130-z</u>
- Tan, V. X. L., & Simmonds, J. G. (2018). Parent Perceptions of Psychosocial Outcomes of Equine-Assisted Interventions for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(3), 759–769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3399-3</u>
- Trzmiel, T., Purandare, B., Michalak, M., Zasadzka, E., & Pawlaczyk, M. (2019). Equine assisted activities and therapies in children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine, 42*, 104–113.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2018.11.004

- Ward, S. C., Whalon, K., Rusnak, K., Wendell, K., & Paschall, N. (2013). The association between therapeutic horseback riding and the social communication and sensory reactions of children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(9), 2190–2198.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1773-3
- Westminster Public Schools. (2008). Special education dictionary. Westminster public schools. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from <u>https://www.westminsterpublicschools.org/cms/lib/CO01001133/Centricity/Domain/27/sped_dic</u>

tionary.pdf.

Wilkinson, L. A. (2017). Best practice review: Social Responsiveness Scale, second edition (SRS-2). Best Practice Autism. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from <u>https://bestpracticeautism.blogspot.com/2013/01/test-review-social-responsiveness-</u> <u>scale.html#:~:text=Each%20item%20is%20scored%20on,Restricted%20Interests%20and%20Re</u>

petitive%20Behavior.

Zhao, M., Chen, S., You, Y., Wang, Y., & Zhang, Y. (2021). Effects of a therapeutic horseback riding program on social interaction and communication in children with autism. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(5), 1–11.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052656